IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

0

0

e

2

đ

CASE NO. 76,038

WILLIE MITCHELL, JR.,

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE THIRTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA, CRIMINAL DIVISION, IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY,

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LARRY HELM SPALDING Capital Collateral Representative Florida Bar No. 0125540

MARTIN J. McCLAIN Chief Assistant CCR Florida Bar No. 0754773

JUDITH J. DOUGHERTY Assistant CCR Florida Bar No. 0187786

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REPRESENTATIVE 1533 South Monroe Street Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 487-4376

Counsel for Appellant

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In the early morning hours of May 1, 1986, Elizabeth Oates was awakened by James Bivens, her god-brother, who informed her that an individual was lying outside and was "hurt." Bivens, who is a black male transvestite prostitute, told Ms. Oates that he had just been dropped off by a "date" (R. 42, 46).¹ Ms. Oates looked out of her window, but did not see Bivens' friend, but saw somebody lying in the parking lot (PC 803). Bivens asked Oates for some money. Oates then left to call the police. Upon Ms. Oates return to her house after calling the police, Bivens had left (R. 47).² In response to Ms. Oates call, the police found the body of Walter Shonyo. He had been killed by approximately 110 stab wounds. The fly of his pants was open and his pants were pulled down below the waist. Shonyo's pickup truck was later found parked approximately 1200 feet away from his body.

After hearing about the murder, Annie Harden, Willie Mitchell's cousin, contacted the Tampa Police Department during the early morning hours of May 2, 1986, and advised the police that she believed that Willie Mitchell may have committed the murder, (PC 845). On May 2, 1986, the police interviewed Annie Harden and other family members, Gloria, Jessie, and Regina Harden, all of whom

²Bivens did not stay around to talk to the police. In fact Bivens was not located by the State until "shortly before the trial" (PC 39). So after telling Ms. Oates about the body, Bivens took off and was not found by the State until the trial six months later. Defense counsel was taken by surprise when Bivens showed up at trial (PC 38). Bivens, the person who defense counsel was suggesting was the most likely suspect was not deposed in advance of trial. In fact he was never talked to by defense counsel prior to his appearance at trial.

¹There was considerable amount of information about Mr. Bivens which did not reach the jury. Bivens was a male transvestite prostitute who operated in the area of the murder who once violently resisted arrest by biting the police officer in a manner similar to that in which the murder victim was bitten (PC 30, Exhs. 2, 3, 4, 5, 6). Bivens conducted his prostitution activities exclusively with white males in their vehicles. Bivens frequently did not reveal his real gender until after sexual activity was initiated. Bivens was armed with a knife during sexual encounters (Exh. 5). This was crucial information in light of the fact the victim, a white male, found by Bivens had prior to his death engaged in anal sexual activity and was stabbed to death.

felt animosity towards Mr. Mitchell. A search of the Harden Residence, where Willie Mitchell was staying, and the surrounding neighborhood was conducted. The police recovered, among other things, a knife with a broken handle and a Seiko watch, both of which had been seen in Mitchell's possession, and a shirt matching the description of the shirt Mitchell had been seen wearing on May 1 (PC 800-10, 814).³ Mr. Mitchell was arrested for murder and robbery the same day at the Harden residence.

Mr. Mitchell was charged by indictment with first degree murder and armed robbery on May 14, 1986 in the Circuit Court of the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit, Hillsborough County. Silvio Lufriu was appointed to represent Mr. Mitchell. A jury trial was conducted on November 3-7, 1986.

The defense conceded that Mr. Mitchell had burglarized the victim's unoccupied truck and stole tools and other items in order to sell in effort to get money to purchase more crack cocaine. The defense asserted innocence as to

Gloria also testified at the hearing her prior statements that the shirt was soaked with blood had been suggested to her and to her mother (PC 300). "I told them there was blood on the shirt. I didn't tell nobody it was soaked in blood," (PC 303). She was convinced by police and Mr. Benito, "because you [Mr. Benito] told me that the shirt was soaked in blood and that the evidence you had found outside my house that night was Willie Mitchell's, and you also told me the teeth print on the man was Willie Mitchell's teeth print, so I was convinced that Willie Mitchell was the murderer." (PC 304). The shirt was white or light blue (PC 304). "It was no black shirt," (PC 307). "If the shirt was black, I wouldn't be able to see the blood," (PC 308). . . . He wasn't soaked in blood," (PC 309). "His lip was bleeding up top. Like little drips of blood, like somebody sprinkled water, . . not enough to be stuck to his skin." "It wasn't a black shirt; if it was a black shirt then I couldn't tell whether it was blood or sweat," (PC 310). "He was wearing blue and white Pro Wings from Pearl Shoe Store," (PC 313); "Told the police that," (PC 313). Benito represented to her the knife was found behind her house and that it was the murder weapon (PC 314). "He convinced me" (PC 314).

³The shirt recovered was a "men's pullover white/blue shirt," (PC 810). The shirt matched the descriptions given by Jessie and Regina Laverne Harden to the police (PC 875-76). Annie and Gloria testified at trial that Mitchell's shirt was black (R. 79, 89). Gloria later recanted her trial testimony regarding the shirt. She testified at the 3.850 hearing, "It [Mitchell's shirt] was not soaked with blood, . . . There was blood, drips of blood on his shirt. The face, around the mouth, he had a busted lip and he had blood like dripping out of his mouth, . . . The shirt was either white or light blue" (PC 299).

the charge of murder. The evidence of Mr. Mitchell's guilt of the murder was entirely circumstantial. The theory of defense was that the victim was killed during a homosexual rage by someone else who dumped the body and abandoned the vehicle.⁴ The medical examiner investigated the murder as a homosexual rage killing and testified that the victim's wounds were consistent with at least a 4" blade (R. 206, 210). Counsel knew that a knife had been recovered from Mr. Mitchell, but never knew until the 3.850 hearing that the knife had only a 2" blade (PC 64, 65, 69). Counsel testified he never knew that the knife had been tested and was found negative for the presence of blood (PC 73, 807-08). At trial the State elicited testimony from Jesse and Gloria Harden that the knife had blood on it (R. 91, 96-97). Counsel also never knew the police had recovered the shirt Mr. Mitchell was wearing the night the murder occurred (PC 56). Mysteriously the shirt was never tested for the presence of blood. Neither the knife nor the shirt were introduced into evidence. Further counsel was unaware that a gay bathhouse was two blocks from Mr. Shonyo's place of employment (PC 49). Counsel was also unaware that male prostitutes worked the area of Mr. Shonyo's employment including Bivens in drag. Had counsel been aware of these facts he would have presented them to the jury.

The jury sentencing proceeding was conducted within minutes of the verdict. Defense counsel presented no evidence whatsoever during the penalty phase (R. 619-21). Following the jury's return of a 7-5 death recommendation, the trial court immediately sentenced Mr. Mitchell to death. Written findings were entered on November 14, 1986.

⁴In addition to the evidence regarding Bivens which the jury did not hear, the jury never knew that Mr. Shonyo's place of employment was next to Club Tampa CBC, a gay bathhouse. Ms. Amato who worked in the neighborhood and testified at trial was never asked about the difficulties associated with Club Tampa CBC. At the 3.850 she related there were frequently violent episodes which occurred at the bathhouse and in the neighborhood (PC 275-80). Ms. Amato also testified that a photograph of Bivens in drag was the resembled a person she had seen hanging around in the rear of Mr. Shonyo's place of employment (PC 280).

The Florida Supreme Court on direct appeal affirmed Mr. Mitchell's conviction and sentence, <u>Mitchell v. State</u>, 527 So.2d 179 (1988). This Court concluded that there was competent substantial evidence to support the verdict of guilt based upon evidence in the trial record that Mitchell was covered with blood and that a small pocketknife with dried blood was seen near where Mitchell slept. <u>Id</u>. at 181. This Court specifically noted that "[n]either the knife nor the bloody shirt Mitchell wore on May 1 was ever found." <u>Id</u>. at 180. The facts relied on by the Florida Supreme Court in support of its conclusions have now been shown to be untrue. The knife was found and tests refuted the presence of blood. The State also had possession of the shirt which it chose not to test for the presence of blood or for blood-typing.

Mr. Mitchell filed his Motion to Vacate Judgment of Conviction and Sentence pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850 in the Circuit Court of the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit, Hillsborough County, on March 23, 1990, (PC 388-575). An evidentiary hearing was conducted under warrant by Judge Coe on April 16 and 17, 1990 (PC 1-378). The court found that trial counsel's performance at the penalty phase of Mr. Mitchell's trial was substantially and seriously deficient, "miserably below the standard required for competent counsel," and was prejudicial, (PC 360, 369). The court also found that trial counsel's performance during the guilt-innocence phase of Mr. Mitchell's trial was clearly deficient, below the standard required for competent counsel, but failed to find that this prejudiced Mr. Mitchell (PC 183-85, 216, 360). The trial court refused to overturn the guilt determination.⁵ Mr. Mitchell's conviction was left intact. From that portion of the order this appeal was perfected.

⁵The circuit court did not rule upon Mr. Mitchell's <u>Brady</u> claim, presumably because the circuit court believed that trial counsel had access or could have had access to the exculpatory evidence had he performed adequately.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. Mr. Mitchell did not receive a fair adversarial testing of the prosecution's case at his capital trial due to his counsel's ineffective assistance and because of the State's failure to disclose material exculpatory evidence. The trial court's conclusion that counsel's performance was substandard was supported by competent evidence. The court's legal conclusion that there was no prejudice was in error.

II. The State failed in its duty to disclose material and exculpatory information, and in fact presented false and misleading evidence in violation of the fifth, sixth, eighth and fourteenth amendments.

III. Newly discovered evidence, which would have changed the outcome had it been presented to the jury, shows that Mr. Mitchell's conviction and sentence were unreliably obtained.

ş

ARGUMENT

ARGUMENT I

MR. MITCHELL WAS DENIED A FAIR ADVERSARIAL TESTING OF THE PROSECUTION'S CASE THROUGH THE INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL AT THE GUILT-INNOCENCE PHASE OF HIS CAPITAL TRIAL, THROUGH THE STATE'S NONDISCLOSURES OF MATERIAL EXCULPATORY EVIDENCE, AND THROUGH THE STATE'S USE OF FALSE OR MISLEADING EVIDENCE AND ARGUMENT, CONTRARY TO THE SIXTH, EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.

The accused is entitled to a fair trial. As the United States Supreme Court has explained:

. . . a fair trial is one which evidence subject to adversarial testing is presented to an impartial tribunal for resolution of issues defined in advance of the proceeding.

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 685 (1984). To insure that a true adversarial testing and a fair trial occurs, obligations are imposed upon <u>both</u> the prosecutor and defense counsel. The prosecutor is required to disclose to the defense evidence "that is both favorable to the accused and 'material either to guilt or punishment.'" <u>United States v. Bagley</u>, 473 U.S. 667, 674 (1985), quoting <u>Brady v. Maryland</u>, 373 U.S. 83, 87 (1963). Defense counsel, on the other hand, is obligated "to bring to bear such skill and knowledge as will render the trial a reliable adversarial testing process." <u>Strickland</u>.

Here, Mr. Mitchell was denied a reliable adversarial testing due to both the State's nondisclosures and his own counsel's repeated failures to investigate and prepare. Consequently, the jury never heard and considered compelling material evidence which would have established that Mr. Mitchell did not killed Walter Shonyo. Whatever the cause, the deprivation of a defendant's right to a fair adversarial testing, requires a reversal when there is a reasonable probability that the outcome could have been affected, undermining confidence in the results. <u>Strickland</u>; <u>Bagley</u>.⁶

⁶Of course in capital cases in the United States Supreme Court has stated:

(continued...)

In Mr. Mitchell's 3.850 motion, he alledged both a <u>Brady</u> claim and ineffective assistance of counsel regarding a number of police reports and a wealth of exculpatory evidence which Mr. Mitchell's jury did not hear. At the evidentiary hearing there was no dispute that the information did not reach the jury. However, the defense attorney testified that he did not recall receiving the reports or exculpatory evidence from the State.⁷ The State countered that full disclosure had occurred, that defense had access to the police reports, and that he chose not to present the evidence to the jury. The circuit court at the conclusion of the hearing found:

I don't think that there is a reasonable probability. But for counsel's errors, I [don't] think the results would have been different (PC 337).

"Performance was deficient," which it was in this case. Did the deficient performance prejudice the defense? I don't see the prejudice (PC 338).

Thus, the judge concluded that responsibility for the failure to present the exculpatory evidence to the jury lay with defense counsel. The judge found counsel's performance deficient.⁸

⁶(...continued)

In capital proceedings generally, this Court has demanded that factfinding procedures aspire to a heightened standard of reliability. [Citation.] This especial concern is the natural consequence of the knowledge that execution is the most irremediable and unfathomable of penalties; that death is different.

Ford v. Wainwright, 477 U.S. 399, 411 (1986).

⁷Defense counsel further testified that the information in the reports and elsewhere was crucial information consistent with the theory of defense, which should have been presented to the jury.

⁸Again the circuit court did not explicitly rule on the <u>Brady</u> claim. To the extent that the State were to argue to this Court that counsel's performance was reasonable because the State withheld evidence, the issue would be one of <u>Brady</u>. However at this point, this brief accepts the circuit court's factual resolution that defense counsel performance was decifient because he failed to learn of the exculpatory evidence.

Accepting the judge's factual resolution and determination, the issue on appeal is whether his legal conclusion that there was no prejudice is correct. It is Mr. Mitchell's contention in this brief that he was prejudiced by counsel's deficient performance. The evidence the jury did not hear undermines confidence in the outcome of the guilt phase of Mr. Mitchell's trial. In analyzing the issue this Court must first consider the evidence the jury heard and then review the evidence which it did not hear.

Turning first to the evidence the jury heard, on May 1, 1986, Walter Shonyo, a security guard at Fogerty's warehouse, was killed in his vehicle. James Bivens, also known as BeBe (BB) or Priscilla, a black male transvestite prostitute, reported finding the murder victim's body to his god-sister, Elizabeth Oates, who in turn called the police (R. 42, 46). At the time, Bivens, who claimed to have just been dropped off by a "client" after getting back from Ft. Lauderdale, disappeared before the police arrived. The defense tried to portray Bivens as a suspect. The State responded by having Bivens, who testified in drag, smile for the jury and demonstrate he was missing his front teeth (R. 48). The State argued that Biven's could not have been responsible for the bite mark left by the killer.⁹

Responding to Ms. Oates' call, the police found Shonyo's body located in a parking lot a ten minute driving distance from the Fogerty warehouse, Mr. Shonyo's place of employment (R. 143). When Mr. Shonyo was found, the fly of his pants was open and his pants were pulled down below his waist. The was another large pool of the victim's blood at his feet (R. 126) His pants pockets had been turned inside out (R. 122) and Mr. Shonyo's truck was later located 1000-1200 feet away from the location of his body (R. 128). There was a substantial amount of blood on the floorboard of the passenger's side of the

⁹Of course what the jury did not know was that there was evidence that Bivens had partial dentures which could have made the bite mark.

truck (R. 131-32). The truck was found only 300-400' from the Harden residence where Willie Mitchell was staying (R. 146). A large pool of Shonyo's blood was found at the Fogerty warehouse (R. 135-36). It was evident from these facts that Mr. Shonyo had been stabbed in his vehicle at the Fogerty warehouse where he worked, then the perpetrator drove Shonyo's body in the victim's truck the five mile distance to where the body had been removed from the truck, and the truck then again driven by the perpetrator approximately 0.2 of a mile to the point where the vehicle was parked and abandoned.

The Medical Examiner investigated the murder of Mr. Shonyo as a homosexual rage killing (R. 210). Anal and oral swabbings were taken from the victim and sent to SmithKlein Bio-Science Laboratories (R. 211, 221). The Medical Examiners report revealed a level of 17.6 U/L acid phosphatase in the rectum of the victim (R. 820). A report from SmithKlein indicated that the assay regarding Walter Shonyo was made using "Beckman Dri-Stat ACP" having normal reference ranges for total acid phosphatase of 0-5.4 U/L (R. 824). Based upon the normal scale reference ranges utilized by the laboratory, a defense expert opined that these results indicated that anal sex had occurred shortly before death (R. 427-431).

Willie Mitchell testified and admitted burglarizing the victim's bloody but unoccupied truck, stealing tools and other items to sell to obtain money to purchase more crack cocaine (R. 462-63, 473; Exhibit 29). The defense was that Mr. Shonyo was killed in homosexual rage by someone other than Mr. Mitchell. Mr. Mitchell came upon the bloody but unoccupied truck and burglarized it. The defense offered Bivens as the most likely suspects. The State countered with damning evidence that a bloody pocketknife was seen in Mr. Mitchell's possession

shortly after the time of the stabbing (R. 91, 96-97).¹⁰ Further the State presented witnesses who testified that Mr. Mitchell was wearing a shirt soaked in blood (R. 89).¹¹

Silvio Lufrui was defense counsel. He testified at the evidentiary hearing concerning the theory defense as follows:

Q. And how do you know Mr. Mitchell?

A. I represented him in his murder trial.

Q. And do you recall what year that was in, sir?

A. I believe I was court-appointed in 1986.

Q. Is that the first case, the first first-degree murder case in which the State was actively seeking the death penalty that you handled, sir?

[objection overruled]

A. Yes.

* * *

Q. So, that was your first capital case?

A. Where they sought the death penalty, yes.

Q. And have you done any since then, sir?

A. No.

Q. What was your theory of the case?

A. My main underlying theory was that it was a homosexual rage killing.

Q. And what did you base that on, sir, just briefly?

A. Well, I engaged two experts. The first one was Doctor Michael Baden out of New York. When I initially got into the case, I took what limited amount of information I had to him and we met in a hotel in New York City.

¹⁰However the State had infact recovered the knife and tests had revealed there was no blood present on it. Further the blade was too short to be the murder weapon.

¹¹The State in its closing argument to the jury conceded that its case was one of circumstantial evidence (R. 570). However the jury did not hear all of the circumstances. At that time he, after looking at the file, told me that it was obvious to him what we were dealing with, and he passed the records on to this other fellow who was also an expert in forensic odontology by the name of Lowell Levine because it was a bite mark case, and he said to me that it was obvious to him that we were dealing with a homosexual rage killing.

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