IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

.

.

đ

CASE NO. 76,038

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

SEP 25 1991

By_____Chief Deputy Clerk

WILLIE MITCHELL, JR.,

Appellant/Cross-Appellee,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee/Cross-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE THIRTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA, IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY

> ANSWER BRIEF OF CROSS-APPELLEE AND REPLY BRIEF OF APPELLANT

> > LARRY HELM SPALDING Capital Collateral Representative Florida Bar No. 0125540

MARTIN J. MCCLAIN Chief Assistant CCR Florida Bar No. 0754773

JUDITH J. DOUGHERTY Assistant CCR Florida Bar No. 0187786

THOMAS H. DUNN Assistant CCR Florida Bar No. 871753

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

Harris, 874 F.2d at 763.

Counsel's neglect deprived the jury of substantial evidence regarding Mr. Mitchell's deprived background and impaired mental health. Here, as in <u>Harris</u> and <u>Armstrong v. Dugger</u>, 833 F.2d 1430 (11th Cir. 1987), there was mental health mitigation which counsel, without a tactic, simply failed to timely investigate, develop and present. Here, as in <u>Armstrong</u>, "[t]he demonstrated availability of undiscovered mitigating evidence clearly met the prejudice requirement." <u>Id</u>., 833 F.2d at 1434, <u>citing Strickland v.</u> <u>Washington</u>. Confidence in the outcome at sentencing is undermined and this sentence of death is not sufficiently reliable to satisfy the eighth amendment. Relief was appropriate. The circuit court's ruling must be affirmed.

ARGUMENT V

THE SENTENCING COURT ERRED BY FAILING TO INDEPENDENTLY WEIGH AGGRAVATING AND MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES, CONTRARY TO MR. MITCHELL'S FIFTH, SIXTH, EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS.¹⁷

Mr. Mitchell's sentence of death was illegally imposed because the Court failed to perform its statutorily and constitutionally mandated function of <u>independently</u> weighing aggravating and mitigating circumstances before imposing Mr. Mitchell's death sentence. The guidelines enacted by the legislature require the court to conduct an independent assessment of the propriety of the jury's recommendation if the penalty jury advises the Court to impose a death sentence. <u>Fla. Stat.</u> §921.141(3). The Court, when sentencing Mr. Mitchell to death, failed in its duty to play an <u>independent</u> role in the sentencing process. Not only did the court fail to independently weigh aggravating and mitigating circumstances, it relied upon the Office of the State Attorney to prepare its findings in support of the death penalty.

¹⁷The claim was presented in the Rule 3.850 motion and was mooted by the circuit court's decision to grant relief. To the extent that the State argues that the grant of relief was error, this issue provides an alternative basis supporting 3.850 relief.

Documents disclosed by the State pursuant to <u>Fla. Stat.</u> §119.01 clearly show that the trial court's sentencing order was prepared by the State. This establishes that the trial court failed to independently weigh the aggravating and mitigating circumstances at the original sentencing proceeding. Moreover, this is newly-discovered evidence cognizable in a Rule 3.850 proceeding. <u>Richardson v. State</u>, 546 So. 2d 1037 (Fla. 1989); <u>Lightbourne v. Dugger</u>, 549 So. 2d 1364 (Fla. 1989).

The fundamental precept of the Florida Supreme Court's and the United States Supreme Court's modern capital punishment jurisprudence is that the sentencer must afford the capital defendant an <u>individualized</u> capital sentencing determination. The Supreme Court has therefore consistently held that the trial judge must engage in an <u>independent and reasoned</u> process of weighing aggravating and mitigating factors in determining the appropriateness of the death penalty in a given case. <u>Patterson v. State</u>, 513 So. 2d 1257 (Fla. 1987). In this case the trial court merely adopted the findings by the State. The judge here did not even recite findings into the record and ask a party to write them out. The judge here recited no findings at all -- the findings were prepared by the State.

This constituted sentencing error because the court failed to engage in independent assessment of the appropriate sentence. <u>See, Magwood v. Smith</u>, 791 F.2d 1438, 1449 (11th Cir. 1986); <u>Proffitt v. Florida</u>, 428 U.S. 242 (1976). <u>See also, Ross v. State</u>, 388 So. 2d 1191, 1197 (Fla. 1980); <u>Tedder v.</u> <u>State</u>, 322 So. 2d 908 (Fla. 1975). Because this error has only been discovered in the post-conviction process, it was not of record on appeal. It is, therefore, cognizable now and warrants 3.850 relief.

ARGUMENT VI

THE COLD, CALCULATED, AND PREMEDITATED AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE WAS APPLIED TO MR. MITCHELL'S CASE IN VIOLATION OF THE EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS.¹⁸

On direct appeal in Mr. Mitchell's case, the Florida Supreme Court invalidated the application of the "cold, calculated and premeditated" aggravating circumstance because the medical examiner testified that the number of stab wounds and the force with which they were delivered were consistent with a killing consummated by one in a rage. A rage is inconsistent with the premeditated intent to kill someone, and there was no other evidence of premeditation. Mitchell v. State, 527 So. 2d 179, 182 (Fla. 1988). Thus, this aggravating circumstance was erroneously applied by Mr. Mitchell's jury and judge. Under Maynard v. Cartwright, 108 S. Ct. 1853 (1988), the overbroad application of aggravating circumstances violates the eighth amendment. As the record in its totality reflects, the sentencing jury never applied the "heightened premeditation" limiting construction of the cold, calculated aggravating circumstance, as required by Maynard v. Cartwright. The jury was never even advised of the need for "heightened premeditation." Therefore, there is an unacceptable risk that this aggravating factor caused one of the seven jurors voting for death to conclude death was warranted under the court's instructions. Accordingly, resentencing before a properly instructed jury is required. See Omelus v. State, 16 F.L.W. §457 (Fla. 1991) (resentencing required where jury improperly considered an aggravating factor that the circuit court rejected and specifically did not consider.)

Because Mr. Mitchell's jury did not have the benefit of the narrowing definition set forth in <u>Rogers v. State</u>, 511 So. 2d 526 (Fla. 1987), his sentence violates the eighth and fourteenth amendments. Mr. Mitchell was entitled to the benefit of the <u>Rogers</u> rule. Not only was the jury improperly

¹⁸The claim was presented in the 3.850 motion and was mooted by the circuit court's decision to grant relief. To the extent that the State argues that the grant of relief was error, this issue provides an alternative basis supporting Rule 3.850 relief.

instructed on this aggravating factor, the aggravating factor itself should never have been submitted to the jury for consideration in the weighing process, as this Court determined on direct appeal. See Omelus. Florida law requires the jury to weigh the aggravating circumstances against mitigating evidence. Mr. Mitchell's jury was so instructed. The Florida Supreme Court has produced considerable case law regarding the import of instructional error to a jury regarding the mitigation it may consider and balance against the aggravating circumstances. Mikenas v. Duqger, 519 So. 2d 601 (Fla. 1988). The striking of this aggravating factor required resentencing. <u>Omelus</u>. The "harm" before the jury is plain -- a jury's capital sentencing decision, after all, is not a mechanical counting of aggravators and involves a great deal more than that, a reasoned weighing process. Consideration of an improper aggravating factor skewed the balancing process. Valle v. State, 502 So. 2d 1225 (Fla. 1987). There is a reasonable probability, and an unacceptable risk, that the jury's 7-5 recommendation of death was the product of the jurors' consideration of this factually unsupported aggravating factor in the weighing process.

Rule 3.850 relief is warranted under <u>Hitchcock v. Dugger</u>, 481 U.S. 393 (1987); <u>Maynard v. Cartwright</u> and the eighth amendment. The circuit court should be affirmed on the basis of this error.

ARGUMENT VII

MR. MITCHELL'S SENTENCE OF DEATH WAS BASED UPON MISINFORMATION OF CONSTITUTIONAL MAGNITUDE IN VIOLATION OF THE EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS. $^{19}\,$

In <u>United States v. Tucker</u>, 404 U.S. 443, 447-49 (1972), the Supreme Court held that a sentence in a non-capital case must be set aside as a violation of due process if the trial court relied even in part upon "misinformation of constitutional magnitude." <u>See Johnson v. Mississippi</u>, 108 S. Ct. 1981 (1988). As articulated in <u>Zant v. Stephens</u>, 462 U.S. 879 (1983)

¹⁹The claim was presented in the Rule 3.850 motion and was mooted by the circuit court's decision to grant relief. To the extent that the State argues that the grant of relief was error, this issue provides an alternative basis supporting Rule 3.850 relief.

this rule is absolute and does not depend upon the presence or absence of other aggravating or mitigating factors for its application. Reconsideration of the sentence is required. <u>See Tucker</u>, 404 U.S. at 448-449; <u>Lipscomb v.</u> <u>Clark</u>, 468 F.2d 1321, 1323 (5th Cir. 1972).

At Mr. Mitchell's penalty phase proceeding, the following occurred:

MR. BENITO: Your Honor, at this time I would move into evidence a certified copy, State's Exhibit 45, a certified copy of the defendant's prior conviction on April 5, 1971, of robbery.

THE COURT: I will note the defense objection. It will be received.

[State's Exhibit 45 was received.]

MR. BENITO: That is all I have, Judge.

(R. 613).

2

State's Exhibit 45 was in fact not a copy of the Defendant's prior conviction on April 5, 1971, of robbery. It was a receipt for Mr. Mitchell's arrival at the Reception and Medical Center at Lake Butler, Florida. It noted that Mr. Mitchell had been sentenced to twenty (20) years for the crime of robbery. It was not, as represented by the State, the judgment and sentence.

As long as 50 years ago, the United States Supreme Court established the principle that a prosecutor's knowing use of false evidence violates a criminal defendant's right to due process of law. Mooney v. Holohan, 294 U.S. 103 (1935); see also Giglio v. United States, 405 U.S. 150 (1972). The Fourteenth Amendment's due process clause, at a minimum, demands that a prosecutor adhere to fundamental principles of justice: "The [prosecutor] is the representative . . . of a sovereignty . . . whose interest, therefore, in a criminal prosecution is not that it shall win a case, but that justice shall be done." Berger v. United States, 295 U.S. 78, 88 (1935). A prosecutor not only has the constitutional duty to alert the defense when a State's witness gives false testimony, Napue v. Illinois, 360 U.S. 264 (1959); Mooney v. Holohan, supra but also to correct the presentation of false state witness testimony when it occurs. Alcorta v. Texas, 355 U.S. 28 (1957). The State's use of such evidence violates due process whether it relates to a substantive issue, Alcorta, supra, the credibility of a State's witness, Napue; Giglio v.

<u>United States</u>, 405 U.S. 150, 154 (1972), or interpretation and explanation of evidence, <u>Miller v. Pate</u>, 386 U.S. 1 (1967); such State misconduct also violates due process when evidence is manipulated. <u>Donnelly v. DeChristoforo</u>, 416 U.S. 637, 647 (1974).

Here, the only evidence supporting the aggravating circumstance of a prior crime of violence was improperly admitted and considered. It was misleading evidence. Since no other evidence was introduced to support this aggravating circumstance, this aggravating factor must be stricken as it was in Johnson v. Mississippi, supra. Moreover, trial counsel's failure to catch this error was deficient performance which prejudiced Mr. Mitchell. <u>Atkins v.</u> <u>Attorney General</u>, 932 F.2d 1430 (11th Cir. 1991); <u>Harrison v. Jones</u>, 880 F.2d 1279 (11th Cir. 1989).

Since previously one other aggravating factor was stricken, a new sentencing is required. Cumulatively, the error cannot be found harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. In Florida, the Supreme Court normally remands for resentencing when aggravating circumstances are invalidated. <u>See, e.g., Alvin</u> <u>v. State</u>, 548 So. 2d 1112 (Fla. 1989); <u>Schafer v. State</u>, 537 So. 2d 988 (Fla. 1989); <u>Nibert v. State</u>, 508 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1987); <u>cf. Rembert v. State</u>, 445 So. 2d 337 (Fla. 1984).

Rule 3.850 relief was appropriate. Mr. Mitchell's sentence of death violated the eighth amendment as explained in <u>Johnson v. Mississippi</u>. This error is cognizable in 3.850 proceedings because of trial counsel's deficient performance in not making the error of record and thus preserved for appellate review.

ARGUMENT VIII

MR. MITCHELL'S SENTENCE OF DEATH WAS BASED UPON AN UNCONSTITUTIONALLY OBTAINED PRIOR CONVICTION AND THEREFORE ALSO ON MISINFORMATION OF CONSTITUTIONAL MAGNITUDE IN VIOLATION OF THE EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS.²⁰

In <u>United States v. Tucker</u>, 404 U.S. 443, 447-49 (1972), the Supreme Court held that a sentence in a non-capital case must be set aside as a violation of due process if the trial court relied even in part upon "misinformation of constitutional magnitude," such as prior convictions without counsel that were unconstitutionally imposed. A death sentence be set aside if the sentencing court relied on a prior unconstitutional conviction as an aggravating circumstance supporting the imposition of a death sentence. Johnson v. Mississippi, 108 S. Ct. 1981 (1988).

Here, the judge and jury relied on Mr. Mitchell's prior robbery conviction to establish the "prior crime of violence" aggravating circumstance upon which his death sentence was based. The sentencing court found that aggravating circumstance. However, the prior conviction was obtained in violation of the Constitution. The court record in that prior case reflected on its face that no final order was ever entered. No judgment and sentence was formally filed. Its use in imposing death violated the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments. Johnson v. Mississippi, supra. Johnson is new case law cognizable in a Rule 3.850 proceeding. Moreover, due to trial counsel's deficient performance this error was never made of record and preserved for appellate review. <u>See Atkins v. Attorney General</u>, 932 F.2d 1430 (11th Cir. 1991). As a result, this claim is cognizable in Rule 3.850 proceedings. The circuit court's grant of relief must be affirmed.

²⁰The claim was presented in the Rule 3.850 motion and was mooted by the circuit court's decision to grant relief. To the extent that the State argues that the grant of relief was error, this issue provides an alternative basis supporting Rule 3.850 relief.

ARGUMENT IX

MR. MITCHELL'S JUDGE AND JURY WERE IMPROPERLY INFLAMED BY THE PROSECUTOR'S CLOSING ARGUMENT; AND COUNSEL'S PERFORMANCE WAS DEFICIENT FOR NOT REGISTERING AN OBJECTION.²¹

The State called the victim's son, Bruce Shonyo, during their case-in-chief under the guise that he was needed to connect the items Mr. Mitchell stole from the truck to his father, the victim (R. 114-119). This was wholly unnecessary since Mr. Mitchell admitted taking the items from the truck. This fact was not at issue. What was at issue was the State's desire to put Bruce Shonyo, a Tampa Police Officer, on the stand in full uniform to elicit sympathy from the jury; he was referred to as "officer" during his testimony (R. 114). Although wholly irrelevant to the case, trial counsel unreasonably failed to object. The State asked the son of the victim such <u>irrelevant</u> questions as:

Q: How long have you been with the Tampa Police Department?

A: Approximately five-and-a-half years.

(R. 115). The State inquired into the age, length of marriage and number of children of the victim (R. 120).

During the guilt phase closing argument the prosecutor again informed the jury that the victim was a family man (R. 502). This fact is not relevant to any issue at bar. In disregard of the constitution, the prosecutor ended his guilt phase argument with:

Ladies and gentlemen, during the course of this trial, three people -- three people -- have sat at that defense table. I have sat over there. I've not sat there alone. I have sat there with Walter Shonyo. Every time there is a mention about homosexual activity, every time there is a mention about anal intercourse, and every time there is a mention about oral intercourse, every time there is a mention about semen in the anus, Mr. Shonyo winced and Mr. Shonyo angered and Mr. Shonyo gripped the edge of the table.

He is not here to tell you what happened in that truck that night, but the evidence has told you what happened, and now you can tell him you know what happened, and you can tell him that by coming back in this courtroom, looking him straight in the eye and

²¹The claim was presented in the Rule 3.850 motion and was mooted by the circuit court's decision to grant relief. To the extent that the State argues that the grant of relief was error, this issue provides an alternative basis supporting Rule 3.850 relief.

saying, "You're guilty, Mr. Mitchell. You're guilty as charged in the two-count indictment of the armed robbery and the first-degree murder of Walter Shonyo."

Tell him you know what happened in that truck. Thank you, ladies and gentlemen.

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